



INSTITUTO NACIONAL DE PESQUISAS DA AMAZÔNIA – INPA PROGRAMA DE PÓS-GRADUAÇÃO EM ECOLOGIA

Fertilidade do solo como principal preditor da abundância de mamíferos herbívoros em ilhas fluviais do Rio Negro, Amazônia

Gilson de Souza Ferreira Neto

Manaus, Amazonas Junho, 2018

GILSON DE SOUZA FERREIRA NETO

Fertilidade do solo como principal preditor da abundância de mamíferos herbívoros em ilhas fluviais do Rio Negro, Amazônia

Adrian Paul Ashton Barnett Fabricio Beggiato Baccaro Wilson RobertoSpironello

> Dissertação apresentada ao Instituto Nacional de Pesquisas da Amazônia como parte dos requisitos para obtenção do título de Mestre em Ecologia.

Manaus, Amazonas Junho, 2018

Banca examinadora da defesa oral pública

Dr. Orlando Ferreira Crus Junior (INPA)

Dr. Mario Eric Chohn Haft (INPA)

Dra. Sônia Sena Alfaia (INPA)



MINISTÉRIO DA CIÊNCIA, TECNOLOGIA, INOVAÇÕES E COMUNICAÇÕES



PROGRAMA DE PÓS-GRADUAÇÃO EM ECOLOGIA

ATA DA DEFESA PÚBLICA DA DISSERTAÇÃO DE MESTRADO DO PROGRAMA DE PÓS-GRADUAÇÃO EM ECOLOGIA DO INSTITUTO NACIONAL DE PESQUISAS DA AMAZÔNIA.

Aos 28 dias do mês de junho do ano de 2018, às 09h00min, na Sala de aula do LBA, Campus II, INPA/ALEIXO. Reuniu-se a Comissão Examinadora de Defesa Pública, composta pelos seguintes membros: o(a) Prof(a). Dr(a). Orlando Ferreira Cruz Junior, do Instituto Nacional de Pesquisas da Amazônia – INPA, o(a) Prof(a). Dr(a). Mario Eric Cohn Haft, do Instituto Nacional de Pesquisas da Amazônia – INPA, e o(a) Prof(a). Dr(a). Sonia Sena Alfaia, do Instituto Nacional de Pesquisas da Amazônia – INPA, e o(a) Prof(a). Dr(a). Sonia Sena Alfaia, do Instituto Nacional de Pesquisas da Amazônia – INPA, tendo como suplentes o(a) Prof(a). Dr(a). Newton Paulo de Souza Falcão, do Instituto Nacional de Pesquisas da Amazônia – INPA, e o(a) Prof(a). Dr(a). Juliana Schietti de Almeida, do Instituto Nacional de Pesquisas da Amazônia – INPA, sob a presidência do(a) primeiro(a), a fim de proceder a argüição pública do trabalho de DISSERTAÇÃO DE MESTRADO de GILSON DE SOUZA FERREIRA NETO, intitulado: "FERTILIDADE DO SOLO COMO PRINCIPAL PROPULSOR DA ABUNDÂNCIA DE MAMÍFEROS HERBÍVOROS EM ILHAS FLUVIAIS DO RIO NEGRO, AMAZÔNIA", orientado(a) pelo(a) Prof(a) Adrian Paul Ashton Barnett, do Instituto Nacional de Pesquisas da Amazônia – INPA e Coorientado(a) pelo(a) Prof(a). Dr(a). Wilson Roberto Spironelo, do Instituto Nacional de Pesquisas da Amazônia – INPA.

Após a exposição, o(a) discente foi arguido(a) oralmente pelos membros da Comissão Examinadora, tendo recebido o conceito final:

REPROVADO(A)
POR MAIORIA

Nada mais havendo, foi lavrada a presente ata, que, após lida e aprovada, foi assinada pelos membros da Comissão Examinadora.

- Prof(a).Dr(a). ORLANDO FERREIRA CRUZ JUNIOR
- Prof(a).Dr(a). MARIO ERIC COHN HAFT
- Prof(a).Dr(a). SONIA SENA ALFAIA

Prof(a).Dr(a). NEWTON PAULO DE SOUZA FALCÃO

Chloren Fun lix h
Mate

Prof(a).Dr(a). JULIANA SCHIETTI DE ALMEIDA

Coordenação PPG-ECO/INPA

Ficha Catalográfica

 N000 Ferreira Neto, Gilson de Souza
Fertilidade do solo como principal preditor da abundância de mamíferos herbívoros em ilhas fluviais do Rio Negro, Amazônia
Gilson de Souza Ferreira Neto. --- Manaus, 2018.
Dissertação (Mestrado) --- INPA, Manaus, 2018.
Orientador: Adrian Paul Ashton Barnett
Coorientador: Fabrício Baccaroe Wilson Roberto Spironello Área de concentração: Biologia: Ecologia.
1.Variáveis ambientais 2. Variáveis antrópicas 3. Didelphis marsupialis

Sinopse:

Avaliamos como variáveis ambientais e antrópicas influenciaram a abundância de mamíferos não voadores em ilhas fluviais. Esperávamos que solos mais férteis comportariam maior abundância de mamíferos e também que a distância do ponto amostral a comunidade humana mais próxima, área basal de árvores e área florestada da ilha tivessem um efeito positivo sobre a abundância, enquanto que corte de madeira e distância do ponto amostral a terra firme mais próxima, tivessem um efeito negativo. Nossos registros foram dominados pela espécie onívora *Didelphis marsupialis* a qual esteve presente em 60% dos registros totais de mamíferos. Logo, para a abundância total e proporção de generalistas onívoros na assembléia, não houve efeito das variáveis ambientais e antrópicas. No entanto, ao considerar somente os mamíferos herbívoros, a fertilidade do solo tem o efeito mais forte e positivo.

Palavras-chave: variáveis ambientais, variáveis antrópicas, Didelphis marsupialis.

Agradecimentos

Para o desenvolvimento desse trabalho, além do meu empenho individual, foi necessário a colaboração de muitas pessoas. Agradeço primeiramente a minha família e a minha namorada Naiara pelo vínculo sublime que me impulsiona a seguir. Aos amigos, pelas constantes discussões científicas e às pessoas que mesmo antes de vir para Manaus, contribuíram para a minha formação acadêmica.

Agradeço ao Dr. Adrian Barnett pela empolgação, por compartilhar da sua paixão pela fauna e flora da Amazônia e pelo incentivo à pesquisa, ao Dr. Wilson Spironello pela estrutura material, por me ajudar a ser mais profissional e pelos ensinamentos transmitidose ao Dr. Fabricio Baccaro pelo apoio, reconhecimento e por me ajudar a resgatar a confiança e tranquilidade durante este trabalho.

Reconheço a colaboração de membros do grupo de Pesquisa de Mamíferos Amazônicos (GPMA), especialmente André, Tainara, Dayse e Renann. Agradeço também aos assistentes de campo que foram essenciais para a realização do trabalho de campo deste estudo.

Agradeço o Erison, Jonas, Orlando, Raimundo, Edivaldo, Wanderson e Axa, pela paciência e convivência harmoniosa no Laboratório Temático de Solos e Plantas do INPA. Agradeço aos colegas do INPA Regison, Hevana, Pamela, Gabriel, Guthieri, Wellyngton, Zena eLucas que me acompanharam durante esta experiência na Amazônia.

Aos membros da banca examinadora da qualificação, Dr. Victor Landeiro, Dr. Sérgio Borges e Dr. Rosseval Galdino que restringiram os diversos temas que a princípio era desejado abordar, para um período curto de mestrado, e também melhoraram o trabalho com as sugestões.

Também agradeço ao Dr. André Sawakuchi (USP), Dra. Maíra Benchimol (UESC), Dra. KatrinFleisher (Technical University of Munich), Dr. Pedro Pequeno (INPA), Dr. Beto Quesada (INPA), Dra. Juliana Schietti (INPA), Rafael Rabelo (INPA), Rafael Jorge (INPA), Milena Diniz (UFG), Tatiel Venâncio (UFG), Marcelo Moreira (FVA) e Carlos Duringan (WCS) por terem compartilhado informações importantes para este trabalho. Ao pessoal do ICMBIO, em especial ao vigilante Jackson e a gestora Mariana Leitão pelo apoio logístico e atenção que tiveram.

Aos professores, funcionários e alunos do INPA que engradeceram a minha experiência de aprendizados, oportunidades e crescimento pessoal e profissional que tive na Amazônia.

Muito obrigado!

"Dedico este trabalho aos meus pais Tânia e Gilson e aos meus irmãos Matheus e Júlia que me apoiaram, acreditaram e me deram força para percorrer esse caminho".

Resumo

Os principais mecanismos que regulam a distribuição das espécies em ilhas fluviais são pouco conhecidos. Entender como os ciclos biogeoquímicos afetam a biosfera é um fator-chave para a compreensão do funcionamento dos ecossistemas. Na Amazônia, em uma escala regional, poucos estudos investigaram como a fertilidade do solo pode influenciar a abundância de mamíferos. Estudos prévios têm demonstrado que os mamíferos herbívoros podem ser indiretamente influenciados pela fertilidade do solo por meio de maior investimento das plantas em frutos e maior qualidade nutricional de folhas e frutos. A maioria desses estudos compararam extremos de gradientes ambientais (terra-firme e várzea e Amazônia sentido lesteoeste). Neste trabalho objetivamos investigar como a variação pequena de nutrientes encontrada nos solos, e adicionalmente outros aspectos da paisagem e fatores antrópicos, em ilhas fluviais, podem afetar as assembleias de mamíferos. A nossa expectativa era de que a fertilidade do solo, área basal de árvores, área florestada e distância do ponto de amostragem para a comunidade humana mais próxima influenciassem positivamente, enquanto que a exploração madeireira nestes ambientes e distância do ponto de amostragem a áreas de terra firme influenciassem negativamente a abundância total de mamíferos e proporção de herbívoros. Ainda, para espécies generalistas e onívoras estas relações seriam nulas. Os dados de abundancia relativa das espécies de mamíferos foram estimados utilizando 49 armadilhas fotográficas espaçadas cerca de 2km umas das outras no arquipélago, as quais operaram 24 horas durante 60 dias de amostragem. As relações entre as variáveis preditoras e a abundância relativa foram investigadas por uma série de modelos lineares generalizados (GLM). A espécie onívora Didelphis marsupialis contabilizou 60% dos registros totais de mamíferos. Nenhuma das variáveis preditoras, tanto ambientais quanto antrópicas foram capazes de explicar a abundância total de indivíduos e a proporção de Didelphis marsupialis na assembleia. Por outro lado, ao considerar somente as espécies herbívoras nas análises, a fertilidade do solo foi a variável explicativa com o maior poder preditivo e influenciou positivamente a proporção de mamíferos herbívoros. Os resultados deste trabalho indicam que a fertilidade do solo, em ilhas fluviais que recebem diferentes aportes de nutrientes, afeta de forma diferencial a proporção de indivíduos dentro de grandes agrupamentos taxonômicos, como os mamíferos terrestres.

Abstract

The key factors driving species distribution within fluvial island systems worldwide are poorly known. Previous studies have shown that herbivore abundance and proportion in the mammal assemblage can be indirectly influenced by soil fertility via production of nutritious fruits and leaves and higher ecosystem dynamics linked to vegetation growth on more productive soils. The goal of this study was to investigate which environmental (soil fertility, tree basal area, forest cover and distance from sampling point to nearest mainland) and anthropogenic factors (logging, distance from the sampling point to nearest human community) were most closely-linked to observed patterns of mammalian abundance and proportions of omnivorous and herbivorous mammals on fluvial islands of the Rio Negro, Amazonas State, Brazil. Several of these islands are located on the left bank of the river, and so receive nutrient-rich sediments from the Rio Branco. We expected that our chosen environmental and anthoropogenic factors could predict island mammalian abundance patterns. We used camera traps to examine this, surveying 49 sampling sites across 60 days when water levels were seasonally low.We calculated the proportion of herbivorous and omnivorous mammals per site, and assayed their relationships to predictor variables with a series of generalized linear models (GLM). As expected, the number of records was low on all studied fluvial islands, compared with upland terra-firme studies. In 70,560 sampling hours we obtained 126 independent camera trap records, for a total of 11 mammal species. Total mammal abundance and proportion of the generalist omnivore Didelphis marsupialis was not affected by our chosen environmental and antropic variables. However, soil fertility played a central role in determining the proportion of herbivorous species. Thus, gradients of soil fertility can help to explain herbivore distributions on islands, riverine and define crucial areas for conservation and future restoration. Additionally, logging, distance to the nearest human community and to the mainland had a positive effect, and forest cover a negative effect, on the proportion of herbivorous mammals, but did not affect generalist omnivorous species. Therefore, results suggest that island soil fertility can differentialy impact proportions of mammals from the same feeding guild.

Sumário

Ficha Catalográficaiv
Agradecimentos vi
Resumo ix
Abstractx
Introdução geral1
Objetivo geral4
Abstract6
Methods12
Study area12
Sampling design
Mammalian data
Environmental and anthropogenic variables16
Data analysis
Results21
Discussion
Conclusion
Acknowledgments
Author Contributions
References
Appendix S142
Appendix S244
Appendix S3:45
Appendix S4
Appendix S5
Appendix S6
Appendix S750
Appendix S8
Appendix S9
Appendix S10

Introdução geral

A fertilidade do solo é considerada um fator chave que regula a produtividade primária e a qualidade de recursos disponíveis [1]. Os nutrientes do solo se movem através da cadeia trófica provendo recursos para as plantas e, consequentemente, para os demais organismos, dentre estes os mamíferos [2]. A fertilidade do solo afeta a biosfera, e esta os ciclos biogeoquímicos e o funcionamento do ecossistema [2]. Por exemplo, a diminuição da diversidade de mamíferos pode influenciar o ciclo de nutrientes no ecossistema modificando processos como decomposição, dispersão de sementes e deposição de fezes [3,4]. Logo, algumas florestas defaunadas são incapazes de retomar a ciclagem de nutrientes, devido à ausência ou diminuição desses processos ecológicos [5]. Apesar que fatores ecossistêmicos sejam considerados métricas úteis para estimar a capacidade de suporte, atráves da produtividade primária [6], os mecanismos que relacionam a fertilidade do solo com a assembleia de mamíferos continuam pouco investigados em regiões neotropicais.

A disponibilidade de recursos pode ter um efeito diferenciado em espécies da mesma ordem, por apresentarem diferentes demandas de dieta [7]. Por exemplo, na Polônia, florestas mais produtivas em solos mais férteis mostraram um aumento acentuado da proporção de espécies e indivíduos de pequenos mamíferos herbívoros, enquanto insetívoros responderam menos intensamente a produtividade florestal [7]. Isso porque, recursos da planta são mais abundantes e diversos em florestas mais produtivas afetando mais diretamente os mamíferos herbívoros do que os insetívoros [7]. Em uma escala continental, estes padrões também são observados em relação a influência da fertilidade do solo sobre a distribuição de mamíferos [8]. A variação na distribuição biogeográfica entre mamíferos com diferentes histórias de vida e ecologia está relacionada com estratégias de forrageamento, competição, área de vida e dieta [8]. Plantas sob solos mais férteis tem em média menos compostos secundários [15]. Por isso, é sugerido que mamíferos herbívoros de menor porte são geralmente mais abundantes em solos mais férteis por serem menos resistentes a altos níveis de compostos secundários [8]. O contrário sendo verdadeiro para as espécies de maior porte, que por serem melhores

competidores e mais resistentes a estes compostos, são mais comumente encontrados em solos mais pobres [8]. Alguns outros trabalhos também corroboram esta relação entre a fertilidade do solo com a abundância e composição de diferentes grupos de mamíferos em outros continentes, eg: marsupiais folívoros na Austrália [9]; elefantes na África[10] e ungulados na América do Norte[11] e África[12].

Na Amazônia, existe um gradiente de fertilidade, com solos mais férteis na parte oeste e mais pobres na direção leste devido aos diferentes processos pedogênicos responsáveis pela formação da bacia [13,14]. Isto se reflete nos organismos, como as plantas que nestas áreas mais férteis investem mais em reprodução do que em fotossíntese ou produção de raízes, e consequentemente terão menor área basal de árvores [13]. Todavia, folhas mais nutritivas [15] e com maior investimento em frutos [16]. Esse processo implica em variação na disponibilidade de alimento para diferentes grupos de mamíferos [2,18]. Isso porque solos mais férteis são geralmente associados com maior capacidade do ecossistema [19]. Por tais motivos, a fertilidade do solo pode ser considerada então um excelente preditor para a resiliência e densidade populacional de diversos grupos de mamíferos na Amazônia como ungulados [19], pequenos mamíferos [20] e primatas [21]. Apesar de vários estudos terem investigado os mecanismos que controlam a abundância de mamíferos na Amazônia [2,20,21], poucos tiveram como foco ilhas fluviais [22]. A distribuição das espécies em ambientes fluviais é regulada também não somente pela fertilidade do solo, tornando-se importante desta forma avalia-láem conjunto com variáveis locais ou de paisagem, a exemplo da distância da terra firme e área florestada, que são importantes preditores da ocorrência de mamíferos [26].

O solo das ilhas fluviais recebem um constante suprimento de materiais suspensos no solo que são completamente alagados pela maior parte do ano. As características dos vários rios amazônicos é um dos fatores que explicam a diferença regional em termos de fertilidade do solo e produtividade [27]. Florestas inundadas recebem muitos sedimentos advindos de água branca e são denominados várzeas, enquanto as florestas alagadas por água preta e clara são chamados de igapós [23]. O Rio Branco é um importante contribuinte de íons em solução dissolvidos nas águas do Baixo Rio Negro [23]. Anavilhanas e Jaú estão localizados na Amazônia Central e são hidroquimicamente influenciados pelo Rio Branco, em sua maioria na margem esquerda contrastando com a quantidade de nutrientes do Rio Negro e do Rio Branco [30]. Apesar de ser considerado um rio de água branca, o Rio Branco tem uma quantidade intermediária de íons orgânicos, maior do que o presente em rios de água preta, mas menor do que rios com origem andina, como o Madeira, Purus e Amazonas [23]. Logo, um grande número de espécies de plantas em Anavilhanas também ocorrem em áreas de várzea [27]. Como resultado, a produtividade diferencial de regiões alagadas pode favorecer a colonização de algumas espécies devido à diferença de espécies de plantas nas florestas alagadas e suprimento de alimento [24].

Além dos fatores ambientais, a ação antrópica também pode ser determinante para a distribuição espacial e abundância de mamíferos [24]. Alguns grupos de mamíferos como primatas, ungulados e felinos evitam lugares próximos de comunidades humanas [34] devido a atividades como caça, extração de madeira e desmatamento [35]. Mesmo com tais impactos, há indícios de que a assembleia de mamíferos é mais resiliente em solos mais férteis devido à maior produtividade florestal [19]. No entanto, espécies onívoras como o *Didelphis marsupialis*, parecem ser indiferentes a tais distúrbios [36]. Os mamíferos onívoros podem mudar a dieta, e se alimentar inclusive de recursos antropogênicos em áreas degradadas porque eles podem forragear em diferentes habitats, e por isso podem ocorrer mesmo em áreas com baixa produtividade primária [37]. Portanto, devido aos requerimentos ecológicos básicos de cada espécie, o distúrbio humano afeta as espécies de modo diferencial [33].

Neste estudo avaliamos o efeito da fertilidade do solo, área basal, cobertura florestal, distância do ponto amostral a terra firme mais próxima, exploração madeireira e distância do ponto amostral a comunidade mais próxima sobre a abundância e proporção de mamíferos, em ilhas fluviais localizadas na Amazônia Central. Os resultados esperados são apresentados por meio de um fluxograma, onde as setas azuis e vermelhas representam relações positivas e negativas, respectivamente. (Fig. 1).



Figura 1. Fluxograma do efeito esperado de cada variável explicativa sobre a abundância relativa de mamíferos.

Objetivo geral

- Avaliar como a abundância relativa e a proporção de mamíferos onívoros e herbívoros varia em relação às variáveis ambientais e antrópicas.
 Especificamente, nós testamos duas hipóteses:
 - i. A abundância de mamíferos varia de acordo com as variáveis ambientais e antrópicas. Espera-se que a fertilidade do solo, área florestada, área basal e distância do ponto amostral à comunidade ribeirinha mais próxima tenham um efeito positivo na abundância de mamíferos, enquanto exploração madeireira e distância do ponto amostral à terra firme tenham um efeito negativo.
 - ii. A proporção das espécies de mamíferos onívoras e herbívoras varia em relação a variáveis ambientais e antrópicas. Espera-se que a fertilidade do solo, área florestada, área basal e distância do ponto amostral à comunidade mais próxima apresentem uma relação positiva na proporção de herbívoros, enquanto distância do ponto amostral a terra firme mais próxima e exploração madeireira tenham uma relação negativa. Ademais, espera-se que a proporção de espécies onívoras seja indiferente as variáveis mensuradas.

Soil fertility as the key driver of herbivorous mammal abundance on Amazonian fluvial islands. Manuscrito submetido ao periódico PLoSOne

Gilson de Souza Ferreira Neto^{1*}, Fabricio Beggiato Baccaro^{1, 2},Wilson Roberto Spironello¹, André Luis Sousa Gonçalves¹, Carlos Alberto Quesada^{1,3} & Adrian Paul Ashton Barnett^{1, 2}

¹ Department of Ecology, School of Biodiversity, Amazonian National Institute of Research, Manaus, Amazonas, Brazil.

² Department of Zoology, Amazonas Federal University, Manaus, Amazonas, Brazil.

³ Earth and Biosphere Institute, School of Geography, University of Leeds, LS2 9JT, UK

*Corresponding author; e-mail: gferreira713@gmail.com

Abstract

When inundated, seasonally-flooded forests in Amazonia receive constant nutrient-input from water-deposited sediments, so that different areas will receive different levels of nutrients. Previous studies have shown that mammals can be indirectly affected by soil fertility via food source nutritional guality. To follow-up such studies, we investigated the effect of soil fertility, tree basal area, forest cover, distance of sampling points to nearest mainland, distance of sampling points to nearest human community and logging, on the mammalian assemblage on central Amazonian fluvial islands of varying soil fertility. Relationships between predictor variables and mammalian abundance and proportions were investigated with a series of generalized linear models (GLM). We collected species data using 49 camera traps which were operated 24 hours a day for 60 days. A total of 11 species of mammals were recorded and their relative abundance could not be predicted by any of the variables considered. However, our records were dominated by the omnivorous generalist species Didelphis marsupialis, which accounted for 60% of all mammal records. The proportion of generalist omnivorous appeared not to be affected by the predictive factors. However, when considering only records for proportion of herbivorous mammals, soil fertility was the measured variable with the strongest positive effect on their proportional representation in the mammalian assemblage. The proportion of herbivorous mammals also responded positively to sampling point distance to nearest human community, logging and sampling point distance to nearest mainland, while forest cover responded negatively. Therefore, results suggest that island soil fertility can differentialy impact proportions of mammals from the same feeding guild.

Key words: environmental and anthropogenic factors, camera trap, *Didelphis marsupialis*, proportion of herbivorous and omnivores.

Introduction

Soil fertility is considered a key control of primary productivity and quality of food sources[1]. The higher concentration of nutrients in more fertile soils provide resources for plants and consequently for other organisms, such as mammals[2]. Not only do soil factors play an important role in the mammalian assemblage, but the mammalian assemblage can also affect the biogeochemical cycles and forest functioning [3]. Edaphic factors control forest functioning and dynamics, in turn affecting the assemblage and abundance of fauna species. This relationship is bidirectional, so that changes in mammalian abundance have been observed to alter the forest's nutrient cycles, through reduction of processes such as frugivory, herbivory and deposition of feces [3,4]. Some defaunated forests degrade in soil fertility through time due to the lack of faeces and decomposing bodies pulsing nutrientes into their systems[5]. Despite primary productivity providing a useful metric for estimating the ecosystem carrying capacity, such as the number of individuals [6], the ecological and biogeochemical implications of soil fertility on mammal assemblage structure remains poorly investigated.

Resource availability may have different impacts on species in same taxonomic group, but differing diets [7]. Forest productivity has been observed to directly affect herbivorous rodents diversity while insectivores (shrews) responded weakly to changes in forest productivity [7]. Soil fertility has also been reported as influencing mammalian distributions at the continental scale [8]. The explanation for this lies with nutritional status and plant abundance which can, in turn, impact competition, home range and diet of herbivorous mammals. It is widely considered that plants growing on poorer soils have higher levels of secondary compounds, and larger mammals are more likely to deal better with toxins and therefore be more tolerant of poorer soils, while small mammals are more commonly abundant in areas with lower species plant abundance, but only if plants have higher nutritive quality [8].Studies have corroborated the relationship between soil fertility and both assemblage composition and individual abundance of mammals on several continents, including marsupials in Australia [9]; elephants in Africa [10] and ungulate mammals in Africa [11] and North America[12].

In the Amazon Basin, there is a soil fertility gradient from southwestern (more fertile) to Central Amazonia (poorer soils) as a result of a variety of pedogenic processes[13,14]. On more fertile soils plants invest more in reproduction than in secondary compounds or root production [13]. Individually, this results in leaves with higher nutrient content [15], greater investiment in fruit yields[16], and lower tree basal area. High fertility soils are younger and these soils are not as well developed physically, so that is why there is more disturbance (mortality) since the trees cannot hold themselves (physically bad soils). The trees there are usually fast growing (high productivity) since there are ample nutrients but they grow with lower biomass. On the poor fertile soils its the opposite. They grow slow (little nutrients, low nutrient release) but with high biomass and there is less disturbance (mortality) since the soils has a good physical structure [13, 17]. This has consequences for consumer communities, such as mammals [2,18]. As a result, soil fertility is a powerful predictor of density of different groups of mammals in the Amazon, including ungulates [19] and small mammals [20]. Primate biomass is also affected [21], since more fertile soils are usually associated with higher ecosystem carrying capacity [19], so that soil

fertility is a important factor when considering conservation actions. However, while several studies have investigated the regulators of mammalian abundance in the Amazon [2,20,21], very few have focused on fluvial islands [22]. These vary in soil fertility as a result of difference in sediment loading from the rivers that inundate them [23].

Flooded forest contain few habitat-specific mammal species, and the species compositions are essentially simplified versions of those in the adjacent terra firme, which do not receive nutrients via seasonal floods [24]. For riverine islands, annual flooding means that their terrestial mammalian assemblages are recreated every year, so that there are far fewer residents mammals compared to terra firme[25]. For example, in Amanã and Mamirauá, Central Amazonia, terra firme has nearly twice the number of mammal species than várzea [25]. In Amazonia mammalian colonization of riverine islands is greatly assisted by the widespread ability of the fauna to swim[26].

Amazon fluvial islands receive a near-constant supply of fluviallysuspended material as their soils are entirely flooded for most of the year. The geological and geomorphological processes control the characteristics of the various rivers in the Amazonian Basin explaining the differences in regional soil fertility and productivity which in turn affect the ecosystems and they flood [27]. As a result of their Andean origins, sediment loads can be 90 times higher on whitewater rivers than on nutrient-poor black water systems, which are derived from the ancient cratons of the Guyana and Brazilian shields [28]. As a consequence of variation in the amount of received organic ions and sediments, flooded forests inundated by sediment-rich white water (termed várzeas) grow on fertile soils, while those inundated by sediment-poor black and clear-water rivers (called igapós) have poorer soils[29]. For example, the Rio Branco has an intermediate amount of organic ions, greater than present in black-water rivers such as the Rio Negro, but less than those in rivers of Andean origin like Madeira, Purus, Juruá and Solimões [23]. Where such systems meet, there may be substantial nutrient transfer from the more sediment rich systems to the poorer. For example, the Rio Branco, though less nutrient-rich than the Solimoes and other Andean-derived rivers, is, nevertheless a major contributor to the soluble ion load of the lower Rio Negro [23].

Anavilhanas Archipelago and Jaú national parks are both located in the Rio Negro Basin, central Amazonia. Here they are hydrochemically influenced by the Rio Branco, especially the islands on the northern side of the river, where the nutrient input from the Rio Branco is greatest [30]. As a result, the Rio Branco creates a natural gradient on soil fertility and differential productivity of flooded regions can favour the colonization of some species due to different tree species in the flooded forest and supply of food sources [24]. This is illustrated by the number of riverine plant species at Anavilhanas that otherwise only occur in areas of várzea, as such species require higher nutrient inputs than occur in neighboring areas under the influence of nutrient-poor black-waters [23].

Successful dispersion depends not only on the ability of individuals of a species to move between sites, but also on landscape attributes, such as matrix quality, which may impede locomotion or increase mortality [31]. Consequently, soil fertility, together with local or landscape variables, such as distance to nearest mainland and land mass area, should be important predictors of mammalian assemblage on inland islands, affecting both mammalian dispersal and habitat use on fluvial islands [26].

In addition to edaphic controls, anthropogenic actions may also influence the spatial distribution and abundance of some mammal species[33]. In Central Amazonia, some groups of mammals such as primates, felids and ungulates avoid locations close to human communities [34] due to activities such as hunting and logging [35]. Even with such impacts, there are indicators that mammalian assemblages are more likely to be able to withstand human hunting pressures on more fertile soils than lower fertility ones due to higher forest productivity [19]. For instance, even with increase of anthropogenic activities, the recovery of some groups of mammals can be more rapid on more fertile soils than on less fertile ones, which allow both larger populations and guicker population recovery, likely due to greater availability of more nutritious foods [19]. Additionally, human disturbance does not impact all species equally, with some generalist omnivorous species, such as Didelphis marsupialis, being either resilient to antropogenic disturbances [18], or able to exploit anthropic environments [36]. Omnivorous mammals can switch to other diet items such as anthropogenic food and trash. Additionally, because omnivores mammals can forage in many habitats, they can occur even in extreme environments with low primary productivity [37].

We investigated the relationships between soil fertility and mammalian assemblage composition on fluvial islands in the Rio Negro. We also analysed other environmental (forest cover, tree basal area, sampling point to the nearest mainland site) and anthropogenic (distance from the human community and logging) variables in order to test their effect on observed mammalian assemblage. We hypothesized that the variation in soil fertility would be the main factor moderating the proportion and abundance of non-volant mammals through the availability of food sources.Specifically, we expected that: (i) soil fertility, forest cover, tree basal area and distance from the nearest human community increase the abundance of mammals, while distance from the sampling point to the nearest mainland site and logging would decrease the relativeabundance of mammals; (ii) Herbivorous species will respond positively to soil fertility, human community distance, forest cover, tree basal area and negatively to distance from the sampling point to the nearest mailand and logging, while generalist omnivorousspecieswill not be influenced (in terms of proportion in the assemblage) by such factors.

Methods

Ethics Statement

The study was conducted with permits IBAMA/ SISBIO 55180-1 and 59367-1 issued to Gilson de Souza Ferreira Neto by the Chico Mendes Institute for Biodiversity Conservation (ICMBio). The study was non-invasive and involved no direct contact or sampling of living animals.

Study area

The study was carried out on 28 fluvial islands in the Rio Negro within two protected areas in central Amazonian Brazil — Anavilhanas National Park and Jaú National Park. Both conservation units are part of the Lower Rio Negro Mosaic and are administered by the Chico Mendes Institute (ICMBio-MMA, Brazil) (Figure 1). The total area investigated covers approximately 60,000 hectares (02.454089° S, 060.961982° W). Area of individual islands investigated ranged from 50 to 11,000 hectares, and the proximity of the camera location to the nearest mainland ranged from 0.24 to 8.74 km.

Some 100 traditional human communities occur in Anavilhanas, Jaú National Park and other immediately adjacent areas [38]. Although both areas are conservation units, illegal extraction of high value commercial timber occurs frequently [39]. Even though the human communities occur at low densities, there is a long history of hunting in the area now gazetted as Anavilhanas and Jaúnational parks[38].



Figure 1. Location of study sites (Anavilhanas and Jaú national parks) in the lower Rio Negro Basin, Amazonian Brazil. Yellow points indicate locations of camera traps sampling points.Data for predictive variables were also collected at these locations.

At the study sites, the annual flood pulse (the rise and fall of the water level on the rivers) is both seasonal and gradual [40]. The floodwaters reach their peak in May, and the forest floor is generally dry between June and October [38]. Thus flooding is off-set from local seasonal rainfall patterns which include a short dry season from June to October, and a rainy season from November to May [38]. During peak flooding, all local fluvial islands are completely inundated, often to a depth of several meters [40], so temporarily transforming terrestrial environments into aquatic ones [41]. Annual regional average precipitation is 3000 mm, with average monthly temperature of 25°C [38].

The sampled fluvial islands are alluvial, and were created by increased sediment load, as a result of both precipitation and sediment supply in the Rio Branco basin having increased over the last 15,000 years [42]. As a result, while both Anavilhanas and Jaú overlay the Cretaceous Alter do Chão Formation [43], they have contrasting geomorphological characteristics: while fluvial islands of Jaú National Park is characterized by a narrow alluvial plain with small and elongated islands, Anavilhanas National Park has much wider channels [43].

The variation in soil fertility is not only associated with the temporal-spatial transport of sediments from the Rio Branco River, but also to island age [44] and elevation. The age of the islands in Anavilhanas may differ from centuries to more than 18,000 years, so that there are soils with varied and distinct degrees of leaching (loss of water-soluble plant nutrients from the soil), origin of the sediment (substrate age, degree of weathering) and therefore differences in soil fertility [44]. Elevation, determine flood duration and hence the degree of leaching and new inputs river sediments [42]. The geological characteristics of poor black water systems in central Amazonia can also greatly affect plants diversity, so that, older geological formations (usually less fertile soils) are associated with lower alpha-diversity of woody plants [45]. The combination of age and substrate elevation of the islands can influence soil characteristics, since older soils may be more leached and impoverished [42].

Sampling design

Following QGIS development methodology [47], we created a virtual grid with 2 x 2 km spacing to layout sampling locations (Fig.1). In the current study we placed single camera traps at 49 points, which also served as the reference point for subsequent collection of predictive variables. All camera traps were installed when islands were not flooded. To avoid bias in the species capture rates, camera traps were not baited [46]. To minimize spatial pseudoreplication cameras were spaced at least 1.85 km from each other, and then located camera traps as close as logistically possible to grid intercept points on non-flooded islands. We used satellite images from GeoEye in Google Earth to define which islands were generally influenced by the Rio Branco waters based on the color of the river water. As a result, the majority of the islands lay on the northern sector of the archipelago, towards the left bank of the Rio Negro [23] (Figure 1). The number of sampling points did not always correspond to the size of the island since they were not chosen a priori.

Mammalian data

We surveyed for mammals with 49 camera traps operating continually for 24 hours-a-day across 60 days from August to November 2017. Terrestrial and scansorial mammal species were recorded by two digital camera traps types (35ReconyxHyperfire HC600 and 14Reconyx RM45 Rapidfire) deployed at 30 to 40 cm above the ground and operating continually for 24 hours-a-day across 60 days from August to November 2017. All photos of the same species on the same camera taken within 30 minutes of each other were considered as a single independent record or if individuals could be told-apart by natural marks[48].

Abundance was assumed to be the total number of records, per sampling point. For group-living species, we considered each individual register in a photo as one individual record. Small mammal species recorded by the camera traps were identified with the help of field guides [47,49], and confirmed by their geographical range and reinforced by experienced specialists for the region.

Environmental and anthropogenic variables

We sampled the local variables (soil fertility, tree basal area) in the plot of 0.1 hectar (10 × 100m) around each camera trap. Soil sampling was carried out between August and September, 2017. Using a Dutch auger we collected soil samples from 10 sites spaced 10 m apart within the sample plot. Soil was collected to a depth of 0 to 20 cm, after leaf litter removal. In the field we combined all 10 samples to derive an average value per plot. We prevented the volatization of inorganic nitrogen - ammonium (NH4+) and nitrate (NO3-) by storing the sample in a styrofoam box in the field before transferring to freezing conditions of the ICMBio base in Novo Airão (Figure 1). Time between collection and freezing was never more than 48 hours [50]. Chemical analyzis was carried out at the Thematic Laboratory of Soils and Plants at the National Institute of Amazonian Research (INPA), with soils refrozen upon arrival in the laboratory to avoid volatization.

Preparation of extracts for inorganic nitrogen analysis was done using 20 grams of soil and 40 millimeter of Potassium sulfate (K₂SO₄) at 0.5 molar in falcon tubes, with centrifugation at 200 revolutions per minute for 15 minutes. Extracts were then decanted for 30 minutes and filtered and frozen for further analysis of N-inorganic contents. NH4+ (ammonium) and NO3- (nitrate) were determined by

colorimetry, using a Shimadzu Spectrophotometer (UV mini 1240). The N analysis were not over dried. For the other soil analyses, each soil sample was oven dried at 65°C, and particles smaller than 2 millimeters were removed [51]. All soil variables are given in Appendix S1.

The following soil characteristics were obtained:

Soil pH in water: determined using 10 grams of fine soil in 25 mililiters H₂O for 1 minute with a mechanical stirrer. A pH reading was taken after the mixture had settled for 1 minute rest using a pH meter [50].

Na, K, Ca, Mg, Al: determined with the Thiourea and Silver Nitrate method (Ag-TU), cationic extraction in 0.01M Ag-TU solution, stirred together with the sample, where the complete cation exchange is achieved [51].

Sum of bases: NA, K, Ca, Mg [50].

Cation exchange capacity was calculated from the equation: Ecec = (Sum Of Bases + Hydrogen + Aluminum) [52].

Total phosphorus and total cations: soil was passed through the digestion process through sulfuric acid. Then, 0.25 grams of soil were added to 5 mililiters of distilled water and left to settle overnight. The following day, 5 mililiters of H₂SO₄ was added until reaching the temperature of 360°C, whereupon 0.5 mililiters of hydrogen peroxide (H2O₂) was added. This process was repeated 10 times. Total phosphorus reading was done by colorimetry in a Shimadzu Spectrophotometer, while total cations were read with atomic absorption via Flame Atomic Absorption Spectrometry (FAAS)[53].

Organic phosphorus (Po) and Inorganic phosphorus (Pi): were extracted with NaHCO₃(Sodium Bicarbonate)[54].

Soil grain size profiling: 10 grams of fine soil pre-treated with physical and chemical dispersants was used. Then, we separated silt percentage, which was calculated from the difference between the total weight of sand and clay [55].

To provide information on standing biomass we measured tree basal area. Tree basal area was calculated by measuring the diameter at breast height (DBH) of all live trees >- 10 cm in the study plot, and then we summed the basal area of all trees, which was calculated using the circle area (π .r²).

We considered the percentage of forest within a 1000-meter buffer around the camera trap as a measure of forest cover at landscape level which was separated into forest and non-forest areas into three class (forest, waterbodies and open areas). Previous studies have successfully used a 1000-m buffer to predict small [56] and medium-large sized mammals [57]. Furthermore, this circle size decreased overlap between the circumferences of forested areas, minimizing spatial dependencies among samples.

To quantify the extent of logging, the area in the immediate vicinity of the camera trap was surveyed on foot to identify signs of logging, with the help of field assistants who lived in the study region. We considered noises, physical signs of logging activity (such as fallen wood) and the registered passage of loggers carrying timber and timber cutting equipment in the camera trap records as evidence of looging (Figure 2). We only considered the evidence and absence of logging at each sampling point (camera trap).



Figure 2. Loggers carrying logging equipments in the left and and stumps and sawn wood (right).

The forest cover and linear geographic distance from the camera point to the nearest neighbouring mainland forest site and the nearest traditional human community were obtained using the QGIS program [47], and images from Google Earth and Landsat TM 7 and TIRS 8.

Data analysis

We first tested for spatial correlation via the ncf function correlogram package[58]. This preliminary analysis showed no spatial correlation between the sampling units (Appendix S2). Due to low number of records, we opted for generalized linear models (GLM) for proportion and abundance of mammals. Correlation between predictor variables was tested using a Spearman multiple correlation function chart. Correlation with the Performance Analytics package [59] with a cut off of 0.5[60], retaining only weakly correlated variables. We also tested for multicollinearity between the model variables using variation inflation factors (VIF) less than 3 [60]. Since all other soil variables were found to be highly correlated with sum of bases (Appendix S3), we excluded them, and opted to use

only sum of bases as an index of soil fertility, taking into account that it is one of the main drivers of forest dynamics in terms of productivity, tree mortality, turnover rates, soil fertility and a better measure of cation availability [13] and its relation with mammals [21]. We derived seven predictor variables that were not correlated to each other (Spearman r < 0.50) (tree basal area, distance from the sampling point to the nearest mainland, forest cover, sum of bases, distance from the sampling point to the nearest community and logging). For range, mean and standard deviation of all predictive variables see S4 Appendix, and for their values and units of measurement see S5 Appendix.

Due to overdispersion of count data, we used a generalized linear model (GLM) with the negative binomial distribution to adjust the variance independently of the mean. In order to investigate the effects of the predictive environmental and anthropogenic variables on mammalian abundance, we opted to use all the scansorial and terrestrial records (Appendix S6).

To test the second hypothesis, we considered only the relative abundance of *D. marsupialis* and five species of herbivorous (*Cuniculus paca, Hydrochoerus hydrochoerus, Mazama americana, Pecari tajacu* and *Proechimys* sp.) per sampling point per total of all records to account for proportion of omnivorous and herbivorous species, respectively (Appendix S6). We defined herbivorous mammals as those with a plant-based diet, including grains, nuts, seeds, legumes, leaves and fruits, while we considered as generalist omnivores, those mammals able to feed on both plant and animal matter. We obtained information on primary diet, order, common names and locomotion [61] (Appendix S6). We did not include either insectivorous, or carnivorous species, and excluded two omnivorous species (*Philander opossum* and *Nasua nasua*) due to the very low number of records. We fitted GLM with the binomial error distribution, as the data was proportional.

To avoid overfitting, we created 10 models with three to five predictor variables per model. The same models were used both for relative abundance and proportion, first and second hypothesis, respectively. For model selection, we used the Akaike Information Criterion[62] corrected for small sample sizes [63] using the MuMIn package [64]. For model uncertainty in multimodel inference, we used amodel-averaging approach as this is considered more robust than the stepwise approach that emphasizes only the best model [65]. We considered only the most plausible models (i.e. those with Δ -<4) [66] for model averaging. The sum of Akaike weights was considered to assure the relative importance of each variable in the model [67]. All statistical analyzes were performed in Software R version 3.4.3 [68].

Results

We obtained 126 records of non-volant mammals encompassing 11 species, providing a total of 70,560 hours of sampling. From this total, there were 83 records from only one species, *Didelphis marsupialis*. Also, other species were target organisms for this study including herbivorous (5 species = 22 records), omnivores (3 species = 89 records), carnivores (2 species = 4 records) and insectivores (1 species = 11 records) (Appendix S6). We were unable to identify the *Proechimys* sp. to species level from obtained photographs. We obtained an average of 5.56 independent records per camera trap, with a standard deviation of 5.07.

Contrary to our first hypothesis, none of the derived predictor variables could predict total mammalian abundance better than the null model. For generalist omnivorous species (*D. marsupialis*), the null model was the most parsimonious, again the only one with a Δ - of less than 4 (Appendix S8). However, for the proportion of herbivorous mammalsin the the total mammal assemblage, the sum of bases and forest cover had significant positive effects (Figure 3 and figure 4A) on the proportion of herbivorous, followed by community distance, mailand distance and logging (S1 Table). Therefore, our chosen environmental factors were more important as anthropogenic variables for predicting the proportion of herbivorous.



Figure 3. Mean coefficients (standard pattern) for the predictor variables of the most parcimonious models for proportion of herbivorous mammals. SB-Sum of bases; MA-Distance from the sampling point to the nearest mainland; LO-Logging; FC- Forest cover; CD- Community distance.

Table S1. Best models selected by the model selection (Akaike Criteria) with Δ -<4 for predicting proportions of herbivorous species. CD: Community distance; Distance to nearest mainland- MA; SB: Sum of bases; LO: Logging; FC: Forest cover. Δ AIC = difference between the best model (with zero value) and the others (lower numbers indicate the best model), wAIC = strength of evidence in favor of each of the models (higher numbers indicate the best model).

Model	ΔΑΙϹ	wAIC
Model structure: SB + FC + CD	0.00	0.53
Model structure: SB + FC + MA	1.92	0.20
Model structure: SB + FC + MA + CD	2.47	0.15
Model structure: SB + FC + MA + LO	3.01	0.11
Environmental and anthropic	Sum of Akaike	
factors	weights	
Soil fertility	0.99	
Forest cover	0.99	
Human community distance	0.68	
Mailanddistance	0.46	
Logging	0.11	



Figure 4. Graphs showing proportion of herbivorous abundance in relation by the measured environmental and anthropogenic predictors.

Discussion

We found that different groups of mammals responded in different ways by the measured environmental and anthropogenic factors. Our results show that none of the analysed environmental and anthropogenic factors were good predictors of either mammal abundance or proportion of *D. marsupialis*. However, our results suggests that only species that are completely dependent on plant material were affected by soil fertility. Consistent with our expectation, fertile soils were characterized by a higher proportion of mammals with plant-based diets in the total community, as shown in Figure 4A. The proportion of herbivorous mammals increased linearly with soil fertility suggesting that only species which are completely dependent on plant material were affected by soil fertility. We believe that such variation in herbivorous mammals occurence may be explained by foliar nutritional quality [69] and fruit investment [16]. One possible explanation is that plants invest less in anti-herbivory defence when nutrients are plentiful [15]. In the generally nutrient-poor study area, plants are known to invest heavily in antiherbivory-defense such as tannins and other phenolic compounds, which in turn is considered to reduce carrying capacity for different organisms [29]. In addition, our measured environmental factors were better predictors than anthropogenic factors for the proportion of the total assemblage by herbivorous mammals.

In contrast to our expectations, we found that none of the considered environmental and anthropogenic variables could explain the total mammalian abundance nor the proportion of *D. marsupialis,* the most abundant species in our list of records. This could be since our records were dominated by the generalist omnivorous species *D.marsupialis,* which accounted for 60% of all
records. The lack of predictability for this species can be explained by the fact that *D.marsupialis* is one of the most common mammal species found in the neotropics and it is extremely adaptable, with noted ability to adjust its diet to reflect local resource profiles [49]. Indeed, as has been demonstrated in a highly degraded agricultural area in Colombia, *D. marsupialis* can tolerate extremely high levels of human impact [36]. We also acknowledge the possibility that because *D. marsupialis* is considered a scansorial mammal [61] it may well ascend into the trees when the flood waters come. Thus, while most terrestrial species will be wiped out every time the island is inundated, this marsupial may not be and it could therefore breed and build up substantial populations that colonize from above every season, rather than colonize from the size as must all those species that arrive by walking or swimming. The characteristics of the Amazon mammal's species to survive such as dispersal hability, their population sizes and home range greatly affects how they manage to survive post island inundation[26].

Soil fertility can have different effects on the same taxonomic group, as mammals. Generalist omnivorous mammals can base their diet on other food sources, and not only plant material. For the generalist omnivorous species considered in this study: the diet of *D. marsupialis* is not composed mainly of plant matter, rather it is composed largely of invertebrates and vertebrates items. The speciescan feed even on anthropic refuse [70]. Besides this, *D. marsupialis* is also a low ranked species in terms of hunted bushmeat preference [71]. Therefore, our data suggests that this generalist omnivorous species were unlikely to be impacted by the measured environmental and anthropogenic components in this study.

Soil fertility varies greatly within the Amazon basin [13]. In the entire Amazon basin, the variation of soil fertility ranges from 1 to 90 mmolc/kg-1, from southwestern (more fertile) to east and central Amazonia (poorer soils), which greatly affects forest functioning and structure in the Amazon [17]. For the current study, we found a variation of 1.8 to 23.3 mmolc/kg-1 in terms of sum of bases (Appendix S10), being 3 to 50 times lower than values reported for the most fertile Amazonian soils [28]. The variation in soil fertility in the study area is distributed in a non-random manner so that, more fertile soils in terms of total phosphorus, sum of bases, ammonium and cation exchange capacity are closer to the mouth of the Rio Branco River (Appendix S10). Such soils would be classified as very low to medium fertility within Central Amazonas [28]. We speculate that the variation in soil fertility in the studied fluvial islands may alter the functioning of the islands.

We would expect that only species occur on the islands who would be sufficiently generalist to adapt to the prevailing conditions of poor soils and low plant diversity once they have arrived on the island. We believe that this explanation is consistent with our findings, since most records were dominated by only one species, *D. marsupialis*. In addition to being good survivors, such species often have high population densities, which also increases the chance that they will arrive on the islands (an event which must occur annually for terrestrial species). Such factors are more important because the total, or neartotal, inundation of many islands each year means that the strictly terrestrial mammal species must colonize the islands every year from the mainland. Hence, high-disperser, generalist species (equivalent to the tramp species of classical island biogeography), are those most likely to be found in such annually-peturbed systems [72].

In the Amazon, patch and landscape factors in some cases can act as barriers for mammalian colonization and ability to persist [48]. Such considerations are also consistent with our findings for proportion of herbivorous since distance from the sampling point to the nearest mainland has a small positive effect on the proportion of herbivorous mammals. In contrast to our expectations, forest cover had a negative effect on the proportion of herbivorous mammals and it was present in all the most parsimonious models. In this study, herbivorous mammals prefer non forested areas, and we speculate that this result can be attributed to the capacity of mammals to traverse the aquatic matrix by swimming, so visiting several land masses [26]. We also speculate that these results can be attributed to the fact that some mammals may prefer open areas instead of forest. For example, the spiny rat *Proechimys* sp. are known to be the only small mammal species to inhabit open areas in very arid environments such as the Caating in Brazil, [73], so that some species of *Proechimys* sp. prefers non forest areas (open areas, for example), instead of forest areas.

We expected that tree basal area would have a positive effect on the proportion of herbivorous. However, tree basal area had no effect on the proportion of mammals with plant-based diet, and did not appear in any of the best models for the proportion of herbivorous. Although tree basal area is widely considered as a metric of habitat quality and also an indicator of fruiting production [74], our much smaller scale and fluvial islands study area may have been not able to detect any effect on herbivorous mammals, so that we suggest in future studies that forest productivity should be assessed with other variables.

We expected that our chosen anthropogenic factors would have a negative impact on the proportion of herbivorous. Yet in contrast to our expectations, logging had a positive effect on the proportion of plant-based diet mammals. This could be because for a short period after trees are cut, the soil fertility may increase because when the canopy is open as an effect of logging, there is an increase in pionerring plant species with younger tissues that generally have fewer secondary compounds [75], but we do not think so because this variation in soil fertility usually occurs at a larger scale [28], and differs from that found here at the smaller, regional, scale; so that logging had little effect on the proportion of herbivorous mammals in the partial graph (Figure 5e). In relation to human community distance, we corroborated our expectation, since there is a small positive effect of human community distance on the proportion of herbivorous mammals. This may be due because mammals are influenced by human presence due to greater chance of hunting [34] including deer, peccaries and capybaras. Hunting may even be surprisingly high and underestimated for terrestrial frugivores such as (C.paca, as well as smaller terrestrial rodents[76].

Conclusion

We have shown in this study how soil fertility impacts species differently in the same taxonomic group, as different species of terrestrial mammals. While the most abundant species, an omnivore *D. marsupialis* seems to be unaffected as its diet and behavior allow it to persist in fluvial islands, herbivorous mammals are strongly positively related with soil fertility likely due to the direct affect of nutrional status of plants on their survival and performance. Other related variables, as human community distance and logging were less relevant for herbivorous mammal occurrence, while forest cover and mainland distance had a negative effect.

Even though the study area is considered generally nutrient-poor, our results indicate that observed variation in soil fertility is sufficient to result in different levels of favorability for nutritional levels of foliage and therefore mammals, given that the soil fertility was the major predictor for the proportion of herbivorous in this study. Clearly, soil fertility plays an important role in the ecosystem and consequently on the proportion and distribution of mammals, but, in addition to considering the mechanisms by which this happens, more studies are required that study how effects operate at different scales.

This will allow investigations of the ecological and biogeochemical processes involved. Such links can be clarified by evaluating the forest productivity across several years in areas with different levels of soil fertility, while simultaneously monitoring different groups of mammals and/or other vertebrates. For herbivorous, the linkage between soil fertility, ecosystem and trophic composition of mammal assemblages can be investigated via the specific diet of each mammalian group. For other groups such as omnivorous, carnivorous and insectivorous mammals we suggest studies that include other sites, as "Terrafirme", for a longer period including other methods such as linear transect and mammalian footprints, which could complement the data. Since fluvial islands are flooded for most of the year, they are a natural laboratory where new studies could advance.

30

Acknowledgments

This study was funded by The Rufford Foundation (grant number 20754-1), and Rayovac Spectrum Brands. We thank the National Council for Scientific and Technological Development and the Amazonian National Institute of Research for financial support to Gilson de Souza Ferreira Neto. We thank the field assistants Ediglório, Lulu, Raimundo, Dino, Gerley and Vitor. We are very grateful to Orlando Cruz, AxaFigueiredo and Erison Gomes for instructions to Gilson de Souza Ferreira Neto for soil analyses at the Thematic Laboratory of Soils and Plants at (INPA). We also thank Mariana Leitão and the Chico Mendes Institute for Biodiversity Conservation for logistical support and permission to conduct this study (permit numbers 55180-1 and 59367-1).FBB is continuously supported by a productivity grant (CNPq #309600/2017-0). Finally, we are very grateful for all anonymous collaborators for reviews and suggestions.

Author Contributions

Conception and design of experiments: GSF, AAB, WRS, FBBand ALG.Implimentation of experiments: GSF. Data analysis: GSF, FBB, ALG. Contributed reagents/materials/analysis tools: GSF, CAQ, WRS. Wrote the paper: GSF, AAB, FBB, WRS.

References

 Malhi Y, R. TB, L. OP, Almeida S, Alvarez E, et al. The above-ground coarse wood productivity of 104 Neotropical forest plots. Global Change Biology. 2004; 10: 563-591.

- Gentry AH, Emmons LH. Geographical Variation in Fertility, Phenology, and Composition of the Understory of Neotropical Forests. Biotropica. 1987; 19: 216-227.
- Metcalfe DB, Asner GP, Martin RE, Espejo JES, Huasco WH, et al. Herbivory makes major contributions to ecosystem carbon and nutrient cycling in tropical forests. Ecology Letters. 2014; 17: 324-332.
- Sobral M, Silvius KM, Overman H, Oliveira LFB, Raab TK, et al. Mammal diversity influences the carbon cycle through trophic interactions in the Amazon. Nature Ecology & Evolution. 2017; 1: 1670-1676.
- Buendía C, Kleidon A, Manzoni S, Reu B, Porporato A. Evaluating the effect of nutrient redistribution by animals on the phosphorus cycle of lowland Amazonia. Biogeosciences. 2018; 15: 279-295.
- Cohn-Haft M, Whittaker A, Stouffer PC. A New Look at the "Species-Poor" Central Amazon: The Avifauna North of Manaus, Brazil. Ornithological Monographs. 1997: 205-235.
- Niedziałkowska M, Kończak J, Czarnomska S, Jędrzejewska B. Species diversity and abundance of small mammals in relation to forest productivity in northeast Poland. Écoscience. 2010; 17: 109-119.
- Olff H, Ritchie ME, Prins HHT. Global environmental controls of diversity in large herbivorous. Nature. 2002; 415: 901.
- Kanowski J, Hopkins MS, Marsh H, Winter JW. Ecological correlates of folivore abundance in north Queensland rainforests. Wildlife Research. 2001; 28: 1-8.

- Ward D, Muller K, Shrader AM. Soil fertility on granite and sedimentary soils is associated with seasonal differences in foraging by elephants. Plant and Soil. 2017; 413: 73-81.
- Fritz H, Duncan P. On the carrying capacity for large ungulates of African savanna ecosystems. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London Series B Biological Sciences. 1994; 22: 77-82.
- Jones RL, Hanson HC Mineral Licks, Geophagy, and Biogeochemistry of North American Ungulates. In: Geist V, editor. The Quarterly Review of Biology.1986. pp. 121-121.
- Quesada CA, Phillips OL, Schwarz M, Czimczik CI, Baker TR, et al. Basinwide variations in Amazon forest structure and function are mediated by both soils and climate. Biogeosciences. 2012; 9: 2203-2246.
- 14. Doughty CE, Metcalfe DB, da Costa MC, de Oliveira AAR, Neto GFC, et al. The production, allocation and cycling of carbon in a forest on fertile terra preta soil in eastern Amazonia compared with a forest on adjacent infertile soil. Plant Ecology & Diversity. 2014; 7: 41-53.
- 15. Coley PD, Bryant JP, Chapin FS. Resource Availability and Plant Antiherbivore Defense. Science. 1985; 230: 895-899.
- Chave J, Navarrete D, Almeida S, Álvarez E, Aragão LEOC, et al. Regional and seasonal patterns of litterfall in tropical South America. Biogeosciences. 2010: 43-55.
- Quesada CA, Lloyd, J., Schwarz, M., Patiño, S., Baker, T. R., Czimczik, C., Fyllas, N. M., Martinelli, L., Nardoto, G. B., Schmerler, J., Santos, A. J. B., Hodnett, M. G., Herrera, R., Luizão, F. J., Arneth, A., Lloyd, G., Dezzeo, N., Hilke, I., Kuhlmann, I., Raessler, M., Brand, W. A., Geilmann, H.,

Moraes Filho, J. O., Carvalho, F. P., Araujo Filho, R. N., Chaves, J. E., Cruz Junior, O. F., Pimentel, T. P., and Paiva, R. Variations in chemical and physical properties of Amazon forest soils in relation to their genesis. Biogeosciences. 2010; 7: 1515-1541.

- Peres CA, Dolman PM. Density compensation in neotropical primate communities: evidence from 56 hunted and nonhunted Amazonian forests of varying productivity. Oecologia. 2000; 122: 175-189.
- Antunes AP. Um século de caça comercial na Amazônia [Thesis]. Manaus: Instituto Nacional de Pesquisas da Amazônia. 2015. Available from: http://bdtd.inpa.gov.br/handle/tede/2187
- Emmons LH. Geographic Variation in Densities and Diversities of Non-Flying Mammals in Amazonia. Biotropica. 1984; 16: 210-222.
- Peres CA Soil fertility and arboreal mammal biomass in tropical forests. In: Schnitzer S, Carson W, editors. Tropical Forest Community Ecology. Oxford: Blackwell Scientific.2008. pp. 349-364.
- 22. Rabelo RM, Bicca-Marques JC, Aragón S, Nelson BW. Are fluvial islands "real" islands for arboreal mammals? Uncovering the effect of patch size under the species-area relationship. Journal of Biogeography. 2017; 44: 1802-1812.
- 23. Goulding M, Barthem R, Ferreira EJG, Duenas R. The Smithsonian atlas of the Amazon. Washington: Smithsonian Books Washington. 253 p. 2003.
- Haugaasen T, Peres CA. Vertebrate responses to fruit production in Amazonian flooded and unflooded forests. Biodiversity and Conservation. 2007; 16: 4165.

- 25. Alvarenga GC RE, Baccaro FB, Rocha DG, Ferreira-Ferreira J, Bobrowiec PED. in press. Spatial patterns of medium and large size mammal assemblages in várzea and terra firme forests, Central Amazonia, Brazil. PLoS One. 2018:
- Benchimol M, Peres CA. Predicting local extinctions of Amazonian vertebrates in forest islands created by a mega dam. Biological Conservation. 2015; 187: 61-72.
- Junk WJ, Piedade MTF, Schöngart J, Cohn-Haft M, Adeney JM, et al. A Classification of Major Naturally-Occurring Amazonian Lowland Wetlands. Wetlands. 2011; 31: 623-640.
- Moreira A, Fageria NK. Soil Chemical Attributes of Amazonas State, Brazil.
 Communications in Soil Science and Plant Analysis. 2009; 40: 2912-2925.
- 29. Janzen DH. Tropical Blackwater Rivers, Animals, and Mast Fruiting by the Dipterocarpaceae. Biotropica. 1974; 6: 69-103.
- 30. Irion G, Junk WJ, de Mello JASN The Large Central Amazonian River Floodplains Near Manaus: Geological, Climatological, Hydrological and Geomorphological Aspects. In: Junk WJ, editor. The Central Amazon Floodplain: Ecology of a Pulsing System. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg.1997. pp. 23-46.
- Fahrig L. How much habitat is enough? Biological Conservation. 2001; 100: 65-74.
- 32. Palmeirim AF, Benchimol M, Morante-Filho JC, Vieira MV, Peres CA. Ecological correlates of mammal β-diversity in Amazonian land-bridge islands: from small- to large-bodied species. Diversity and Distributions. 2018; 0: 1-12.

- 33. Peres CA The structure of nonvolant mammal communities in different Amazonian forest types. In: Eisenberg JF, Redford KH, editors. Mammals of the Neotropics. Chicago: The University of Chicago Press. 1999. pp. 624
- Benítez-López A, Alkemade R, Schipper AM, Ingram DJ, Verweij PA, et al. The impact of hunting on tropical mammal and bird populations. Science. 2017; 356: 180-183.
- 35. Laurance WF Logging and Wildlife Research in Australasia Implications for Tropical Forest Management. In: Fimbel R, Grajal A, Robinson J, editors. The Cutting Edge - Conserving Wildlife in Logged Tropical Forests. New York: Columbia University Press.2001. pp. 559–574.
- Adler GH, Arboledo JJ, Travi BL. Population Dynamics of *Didelphis* marsupialis in Northern Colombia. Studies on Neotropical Fauna and Environment. 1997; 32: 7-11.
- 37. Fedriani JM, Fuller TK, Sauvajot RM. Does availability of anthropogenic food enhance densities of omnivorous mammals? An example with coyotes in southern California. Ecography. 2001; 24: 325-331.
- ICMBio Plano de Manejo do Parque Nacional de Anavilhanas. Instituto Brasileiro do Meio Ambiente e dos Recursos Naturais Renováveis. Ministério do Meio Ambiente. Brasília: ICMBio/MMA. pp. 401.2017.
- 39. Scabin AB, Costa FRC, Schöngart J. The spatial distribution of illegal logging in the Anavilhanas archipelago (Central Amazonia) and logging impacts on species. Environmental Conservation. 2011; 39: 111-121.
- 40. Junk W, Bayley P, Sparks R The Flood Pulse Concept in River-Floodplain Systems. In: Dodge DP, editor. Proceedings of the International Large River Symposium Canadian Special Publication of Fisheries and Aquatic

Sciences. Ottawa: Department of Fisheries and Oceans.1989. pp. 110– 127.

- 41. Montero JC, Latrubesse EM. The igapó of the Negro River in central Amazonia: Linking late-successional inundation forest with fluvial geomorphology. Journal of South American Earth Sciences. 2013; 46: 137-149.
- 42. Zular A. Variações da zona de convergência intertropical e do nível relativo do mar durante o Quaternário tardio registradas em depósitos eólicos do Nordeste e Norte do Brasil [Thesis]. São Paulo: Universidade de São Paulo. 2016. Available from: http://www.teses.usp.br/teses/disponiveis/44/44141/tde-30032017-091337/
- Latrubesse EM, Stevaux JC The Anavilhanas and Mariuá Archipelagos: Fluvial Wonders from the Negro River, Amazon Basin. In: Vieira BC, Salgado AAR, Santos LJC, editors. Landscapes and Landforms of Brazil. Dordrecht: Springer Netherlands.2015. pp. 157-169.
- Cunha DF. Evolução sedimentar do Arquipélago de Anavilhanas no baixo Rio Negro, Amazônia Central [Thesis]. São Paulo: Universidade de São Paulo. 2017. Available from: http://bdpi.usp.br/item/002852462
- 45. Montero JC, Piedade MTF, Wittmann F. Floristic variation across 600 km of inundation forests (Igapó) along the Negro River, Central Amazonia: Springer International Publishing. 229-246 p. 2014.
- 46. Rocha D. G. REE, Magnusson W. E. Baiting for carnivores might negatively affect capture rates of prey species in camera-trap studies. Journal of Zoology. 2016; 300: 205-212.

- 47. QGIS Development Team. Geographic Information System. Open Source Geospatial Foundation Project. http://qgis.osgeo.org. 2012.
- Benchimol M, Peres CA. Widespread Forest Vertebrate Extinctions Induced by a Mega Hydroelectric Dam in Lowland Amazonia. PLOS ONE. 2015; 10: e0129818.
- 49. Emmons LH, Feer F. Neotropical Rainforest Mammals. Chicago: University of Chicago Press. 396 p. 1997.
- 50. Donagemma GK, V. B. de Campos D, Calderano S, Teixeira W, Viana J. Manual de Métodos de Análise de Solo, 2a Edição. Rio de Janeiro: Embrapa Solos. 230 p. 2011.
- 51. Anderson J, Ingram J. TSBF: A handbook of methods of analysis: Oxford University Press. 240 p. 1989.
- 52. Kiehl EJ. Manual de edafologia: relação solo planta. São Paulo: Agronômica Ceres. 262 p. 1979.
- 53. Murphy J, Riley JP. A modified single solution method for the determination of phosphate in natural waters. Analytica Chimica Acta. 1962; 27: 31-36.
- 54. Olsen S. Estimation of available phosphorus in soils by extraction with sodium bicarbonate. US Department of Agriculture, Circ 939. 1954:
- 55. Gee GW, Bauder JW. Particle-size analysis1. 383-411 p. 1986.
- Gomes V, Ribeiro R, Carretero MA. Effects of urban habitat fragmentation on common small mammals: Species versus communities. Biodiversity and Conservation. 2011; 20: 3577–3590.
- 57. Alvarenga GC. Dinâmica espacial da assembleia de mamíferos de médio e grande portes em ambiente de várzea e terra firme na Amazônia Central

[Master]. Manaus: Instituto Nacional de Pesquisas da Amazônia. 2017. Available from: http://bdtd.inpa.gov.br/handle/tede/2280

- Jammalamadaka SR, Sengupta A. Topics in circular statistics. Singapore: World Scientific. 2001.
- 59. Amenc N, Le Sourd V. Portfolio theory and performance analysis. West Sussex: John Wiley & Sons. 283 p. 2003.
- Zuur A, Ieno EN, Walker N, Saveliev AA, Smith GM. Mixed effects models and extensions in ecology with R. New York: Springer-Verlag New York. 574 p. 2009.
- Paglia AP, Fonseca GAB, Rylands AB, Herrmann G, Aguiar LMS, et al. Lista anotada dos mamíferos do Brasil/Annotated Checklist of Brazilian Mammals. 2ª Edição / 2nd Edition. Arlington: Conservation International. 2012.
- 62. Akaike H. Information Theory and an Extension of the Maximum Likelihood Principle. In: Parzen E. TK, Kitagawa G. (eds), editor. Selected Papers of Hirotugu Akaike. New York, NY: Springer.1998. pp. 199–213.
- Hurvich CM, Tsai C-L. Regression and time series model selection in small samples. Biometrika. 1989; 76: 297-307.
- Barton K MuMIn: multi-model inference. R package version 10.1.5. http://rforge. r-project. org/projects/mumin/. 2009.
- 65. Whittingham MJ, Stephens PA, Bradbury RB, Freckleton RP. Why do we still use stepwise modelling in ecology and behaviour? Journal of Animal Ecology. 2006; 75: 1182-1189.

- Burnham KP, Anderson DR. Model selection and multimodel inference: a practical information-theoretic approach. New York: Springer-Verlag New York. 488 p. 2003.
- 67. Rhodes J. MC, Zuur A., Smith G., Ieno E. GLMM Applied on the Spatial Distribution of Koalas in a Fragmented Landscape. Mixed effects models and extensions in ecology with R. New York, NY: Springer.2009.
- 68. RProgram A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing 2010.
- Vitousek PM. Litterfall, Nutrient Cycling, and Nutrient Limitation in Tropical Forests. Ecology. 1984; 65: 285-298.
- Cordero R. The biology of the opossum (*Didelphis marsupialis*) in urbanized environments from Northern Venezuela. Acta Biologica Venezuelica. 2000; 20: 13-28.
- 71. Barboza RRD, Lopes SF, Souto WMS, Fernandes-Ferreira H, Alves RRN. The role of game mammals as bushmeat In the Caatinga, northeast Brazil. Ecology and Society. 2016; 21:
- Rosenzweig ML. Species diversity in space and time. Arizona: Cambridge University Press. 640 p. 1995.
- 73. Rocha PLB Proechimys yonenagae, a new species of spiny rat (Rodentia: Echimyidae) from fossil sand dunes in the Brazilian Caatinga. Mammalia. pp. 537.1995.
- Parry L, Barlow J, Peres CA. Large-vertebrate assemblages of primary and secondary forests in the Brazilian Amazon. Journal of Tropical Ecology. 2007; 23: 653-662.
- 75. Chazdon RL. Second growth: the promise of tropical forest regeneration in an age of deforestation: University of Chicago Press. 472 p. 2014.

76. Adler GH. Fruit and Seed Exploitation by Central American Spiny Rats, Proechimys semispinosus. Studies on Neotropical Fauna and Environment. 1995; 30: 237-244.

		рН	Na	Κ	Ca	Mg	AI	O.P	I.P	T.P	Ca	Mg	К	Na	AI	TRB	NO3-	NH4+	SB	ECEC
Х	Y	H2O		c	moc/k	g			mg/kg		cmolc/kg						u	g/g	cmol	c/kg
S 01.36634°	W 061.79113°	5.00	0.146	0.03	0.74	0.63	0.110	86.33	44.42	549.77	3.77	5.60	5.72	0.97	175.64	16.07	6.00	39.46	1.546	1.656
S 01.245660°	W 061.404618°	4.70	0.127	0.03	0.33	0.53	0.404	56.72	63.30	431.89	3.47	5.76	5.68	1.08	153.78	15.99	5.02	30.48	1.018	1.422
S.01.43701°	W061.59555°	4.60	0.092	0.01	0.15	0.29	0.368	57.02	49.59	360.97	7.74	10.53	9.52	2.16	220.62	29.95	3.63	40.08	0.540	0.908
S 01.41285	W 061.64458°	4.69	0.166	0.04	0.77	0.83	0.333	43.02	30.59	449.14	5.55	15.80	13.74	3.27	376.89	38.36	3.87	45.33	1.803	2.137
S01.45911°	W061.56334°	5.19	0.169	0.02	0.39	0.70	0.348	24.78	20.25	272.80	4.95	13.17	12.02	2.64	258.31	32.78	0.71	42.08	1.288	1.636
S 01.49382 °	W 061.54341°	5.11	0.142	0.03	0.13	0.29	0.439	42.48	25.94	221.04	3.35	7.57	8.25	3.06	159.11	22.23	7.72	87.75	0.591	1.030
S 01.51433°	W 061.53587°	5.04	0.123	0.03	0.07	0.15	0.467	44.18	54.47	333.17	2.48	6.91	6.17	1.50	129.96	17.06	2.45	39.89	0.367	0.834
S 01.57869°	W061.49066°	5.09	0.113	0.06	0.68	0.89	0.356	50.56	25.99	443.39	3.95	13.50	14.97	5.01	276.27	37.43	3.72	108.36	1.737	2.094
S 01.56088°	W 061.51875°	5.07	0.097	0.02	0.10	0.22	0.521	46.71	44.52	402.18	2.87	6.91	8.29	1.84	111.11	19.92	0.64	41.80	0.433	0.954
S 01.58602°	W 061.51136°	5.18	0.144	0.03	0.21	0.44	0.458	35.68	32.60	312.09	7.35	14.49	15.67	3.90	228.44	41.40	0.77	38.39	0.828	1.286
S.01.62100°	W 061.46025°	5.34	0.138	0.02	0.50	0.55	0.383	30.22	28.64	330.30	2.48	6.75	7.79	1.39	81.51	18.41	8.02	52.98	1.204	1.588
S 01.67150°	W 061.43144°	5.01	0.123	0.03	0.18	0.30	0.468	52.64	62.16	443.39	4.15	18.11	23.84	5.15	243.02	51.24	0.95	76.53	0.634	1.101
S 01.74363°	W 061.43983°	4.82	0.129	0.02	0.10	0.28	0.463	24.93	12.74	210.50	5.15	15.47	19.61	5.08	180.44	45.31	0.64	48.81	0.520	0.983
S 01.78268°	W 061.43177°	5.15	0.118	0.01	0.04	0.14	0.336	27.15	29.24	142.45	1.96	8.89	10.38	5.22	60.09	26.44	0.71	49.76	0.307	0.643
S 01.92844°	W 061.28011°	4.76	0.18	0.03	0.33	0.58	0.535	24.99	16.75	386.84	1.36	20.08	37.85	5.22	307.73	64.50	5.49	53.67	1.126	1.661
S 01.946 75°	W 061.25460°	4.58	0.124	0.03	0.10	0.30	0.685	35.80	18.20	313.05	1.16	18.11	38.87	4.38	271.29	62.52	4.45	47.32	0.554	1.239
S 01.99961°	W 061.22744°	5.15	0.105	0.02	0.25	0.38	0.321	34.82	25.44	238.29	5.35	16.79	21.46	5.22	132.27	48.81	3.84	62.13	0.755	1.076
S.01.43832°	W 061.57518 °	5.46	0.205	0.05	1.09	0.99	0.000	39.41	35.38	428.06	3.57	10.86	17.95	3.30	118.22	35.69	11.16	36.72	2.336	2.336
S 01.56173°	W 061.49700°	4.84	0.278	0.05	0.40	0.83	0.399	47.20	17.45	381.10	0.78	7.41	20.87	2.78	123.56	31.84	2.82	47.95	1.558	1.957
S 02.21201°	W 061.04876°	4.85	0.151	0.05	0.10	0.48	0.733	18.53	8.77	272.80	-0.32	8.72	18.46	8.45	137.69	35.32	0.58	19.70	0.776	1.510
S 02.28439°	W 061.03330°	4.80	0.125	0.03	0.07	0.27	0.458	22.68	7.67	206.67	1.18	9.38	11.75	3.27	58.84	25.58	2.42	36.44	0.485	0.943
S 02.30480°	W 061.02628°	4.77	0.057	0.02	0.08	0.24	0.310	22.38	17.02	224.87	1.58	8.23	11.79	3.48	52.36	25.08	1.63	22.40	0.400	0.711
S 02.35905°	W 061.00290°	5.03	0.104	0.02	0.26	0.54	0.218	10.52	6.71	175.03	2.08	8.89	11.55	2.82	67.73	25.33	2.08	31.25	0.934	1.151
S 02.39415°	W 060.99394°	5.21	0.112	0.04	0.31	0.62	0.213	10.76	9.77	202.83	2.28	10.86	16.56	2.96	97.69	32.66	1.43	38.77	1.082	1.295
S 02.41246°	W 060.98243°	4.70	0.079	0.03	0.07	0.22	0.513	18.44	8.18	247.88	1.58	10.21	18.21	2.99	96.53	32.98	2.06	39.42	0.396	0.909
S 02.43084°	W 061.01527°	4.68	0.054	0.02	0.06	0.16	0.443	15.83	12.18	258.42	2.57	9.22	16.31	3.20	68.44	31.30	2.20	35.60	0.298	0.740
S 02.465624°	W 060.927204°	4.77	0.112	0.03	0.12	0.29	0.296	18.82	11.34	221.04	1.68	8.56	11.51	2.92	53.51	24.67	0.71	47.32	0.550	0.846
S 0247332°	W060.97627°	4.71	0.047	0.02	0.05	0.11	0.527	13.88	9.69	280.46	0.68	10.21	18.31	3.83	83.91	33.02	2.01	18.32	0.226	0.753
S.02.44953°	W 060.94923°	4.80	0.063	0.04	0.05	0.14	0.234	9.28	48.40	172.16	1.28	8.89	10.13	2.89	34.76	23.19	1.56	34.80	0.294	0.527

Appendix S1. Descriptive statistic of chemical attributes of the soil of the fluvial islands of the Rio Negro, Amazonas State, Brazil.

S 02.49454°	W 060.93719°	4.90	0.065	0.02	0.05	0.17	0.180	11.59	24.62	164.50	1.98	8.56	9.70	2.43	22.13	22.67	0.72	22.34	0.304	0.483
S 02.51718°	W 060.92078°	5.11	0.143	0.02	0.62	0.48	0.012	51.97	42.43	502.81	1.98	10.37	10.58	2.47	39.47	25.40	0.39	36.67	1.267	1.279
S02.518350°	W 060.871161°	5.12	0.039	0.02	0.07	0.30	0.222	5.76	4.67	125.20	0.78	8.56	9.39	2.33	33.78	21.06	1.44	19.95	0.434	0.656
S 02.54468°	W 060.87599°	5.16	0.059	0.02	0.05	0.15	0.468	6.43	11.35	153.00	1.58	9.22	9.87	2.57	32.98	23.24	0.26	21.36	0.277	0.746
S 02.55824°	W 060.85156°	5.04	0.056	0.01	0.08	0.17	0.160	8.48	8.52	168.33	1.78	9.38	9.46	2.30	27.91	22.91	0.46	33.86	0.320	0.480
S 02.57631°	W 060.82553°	4.78	0.05	0.01	0.06	0.14	0.337	12.18	6.71	206.67	1.08	10.70	10.67	2.57	53.78	25.02	0.07	21.35	0.269	0.606
S 02.57341°	W 060.80679°	4.83	0.036	0.01	0.04	0.10	0.116	14.17	14.99	163.54	1.18	8.40	7.77	2.54	9.33	19.89	1.24	14.91	0.181	0.297
S 02.57450°	W 060.78967°	4.53	0.053	0.01	0.15	0.30	0.415	24.81	15.10	288.13	1.76	22.06	19.57	4.80	114.13	48.18	2.59	18.77	0.507	0.922
S 02.55331°	W 060.77921°	4.47	0.068	0.01	0.05	0.23	0.431	16.30	6.15	205.71	1.16	20.41	22.40	6.96	98.31	50.93	0.91	29.27	0.355	0.786
S 02.59493°	W 060.76028	4.44	0.088	0.01	0.08	0.22	0.503	12.75	5.03	236.38	1.36	21.07	21.37	5.15	98.84	48.95	3.56	20.77	0.391	0.895
S 02.61151°	W 060.77030°	4.71	0.109	0.02	0.21	0.44	0.571	9.51	7.46	201.87	0.76	20.08	20.47	5.22	136.18	46.53	0.97	28.24	0.777	1.348
S 02.61236°	W 060.75213°	4.49	0.082	0.04	0.08	0.24	0.519	23.53	13.10	338.92	0.76	22.39	22.03	5.29	112.89	50.46	2.06	23.64	0.451	0.970
S 02.61238°	W 060.73413°	4.76	0.084	0.04	0.07	0.22	0.479	10.31	5.58	198.04	0.96	21.73	21.21	5.70	108.62	49.60	1.42	39.02	0.412	0.891
S 02.54789°	W 060.80404°	4.87	0.061	0.02	0.06	0.14	0.207	11.05	32.12	155.87	4.15	18.77	17.48	5.15	39.47	45.54	0.84	17.78	0.290	0.497
S 02.56110°	W 060.82261°	4.81	0.078	0.02	0.13	0.20	0.256	30.80	28.10	279.50	2.95	18.77	18.71	5.08	41.78	45.51	0.77	35.45	0.432	0.688
S 02,64803°	W 060.71751°	4.74	0.073	0.03	0.10	0.28	0.484	33.00	12.26	285.26	1.08	11.52	9.85	2.54	51.91	24.99	0.84	29.20	0.483	0.968
S 02.67837°	W 060.68189°	4.81	0.091	0.02	0.11	0.25	0.339	14.38	10.59	205.71	0.88	10.21	10.11	2.43	33.78	23.63	1.62	50.43	0.476	0.814
S 02.71006°	W 060.65781°	5.04	0.077	0.03	0.05	0.27	0.351	9.00	9.09	196.12	0.88	9.88	10.46	1.84	35.29	23.06	1.43	21.86	0.429	0.780
S 02.59359°	W 060.81361°	4.70	0.116	0.03	0.10	0.24	0.429	17.97	9.47	243.08	0.58	10.53	11.30	2.05	37.51	24.47	2.33	20.80	0.483	0.912
S 02.54438°	W 060.82154°	5.00	0.108	0.03	0.27	0.42	0.069	12.74	11.02	206.67	1.08	9.88	10.05	1.57	28.09	22.57	1.62	18.31	0.826	0.895

Appendix S2. Correlogram analysis of spatial data for the total mammalian abundance analyzed. Central horizontal lines represent spatial correlation values, while those on each side give 95% confidence intervals. Vertical dashed line shows the limit of autocorrelated values. Values above 1850 m (minimum distance between the camera traps in this study) were considered autocorrelated. Graph showed no spatial autocorrelation.





Appendix S3. Correlations between soil fertility variables on fluvial islands. Highly correlated variables are represented with Spearman greater than r > 0.50.

Legend (from right to left): ph, Na (sodium), K (potassium), Ca (calcium), Mg (magnesium), AI (alumnium), P_Org (Organic phosphorus), P_Inorg(Inorganic phosphorus), P_total (Total phosphorus), Nitrate, Amnonium, SB (Sum of bases),ECEC (Cation exchange capacity).

Appendix S4. Local habitat, patch and landscape variables measured among 49 sites within the fluvial islands. The overallrange, mean and standard deviation (SD) are provided for each variable to examine mammal relative abundance and proportion of omnivorous and herbivorous.

Name (code name)	Range (mean ± SD)
Local habitat scale	
Basal area-BA	0.02-0.18 (0.06 ± 0.03)
Soil fertility-SB	1.8-23.4 (6.93 ± 4.79)
Patch scale	
Distance from the sampling point to the nearest mainland –MA	0.24-8.74 (2.81 ± 2.05)
Landscapescale	
Forest cover-FC	11.9-70.2 (32.28 ± 11.27)
Anthropogenic	
Distance from the sampling point to the nearest community-CD	0.7-18.63 (7.93 ± 3.99)
Logging-LO	0-1 (0.24 ± 0.43)

Appendix S5. Environmental and anthropogenic variables with their units of

measurement with geographic coordinate per sampling point.

x	Y	Basal area (M²)	Communitydistance (Km)	Logging (presence-1 and absence-0)	Mainlanddistance (Km)	Sum of bases (Mmolc/Kg-1)	Forest cover (%)
S 01.36634º	W 061.79113º	0.02	4.79	0	0.38	15.5	11.87
S01.245660º	W061.404618º	0.05	3.58	1	0.70	10.2	31.19
S.01.43701º	W061.59555°	0.03	4.48	0	2.55	5.40	15.36
S 01.41285º	W 061.64458°	0.13	1.69	0	0.31	18.0	39.25
S01.45911º	W061.56334°	0.04	4.18	0	3.59	12.9	50.56
S01.49382 º	W 061.54341°	0.05	7.13	0	3.95	5.90	37.52
S 01.51433º	W 061.53587º	0.09	8.4	0	3.37	3.70	24.54
S 01.57869º	W061.49066°	0.03	4.73	0	3.09	17.4	37.08
S 01.56088º	W 061.51875°	0.04	6.2	0	6.06	4.30	34.64
S 01.58602º	W 061.51136º	0.15	6.91	0	5.57	8.30	27.58
S.01.62100º	W 061.46025°	0.03	0.70	0	1.27	12.0	51.13
S 01.67150º	W 061.43144°	0.05	6.15	1	1.68	6.30	35.74
S 01.74363º	W 061.43983°	0.06	5.11	0	2.77	5.20	30.51
S 01.78268º	W 061.43177º	0.02	8.13	0	2.51	3.10	25.72
S 01.92844º	W 061.28011º	0.10	2.37	0	0.31	11.3	26.56
S 01.946 75º	W 061.25460°	0.04	5.32	0	1.07	5.50	40.04
S 01.99961º	W 061.22744°	0.04	4.23	0	2.07	7.60	37.43
S.01.43832°	W 061.57518 °	0.06	3.0	0	1.47	23.4	37.25
S 01.56173º	W 061.49700°	0.05	4.01	0	2.94	15.6	32.00
S 02.21201º	W 061.04876°	0.07	7.62	0	0.37	7.80	25.71
S 02.28439º	W 061.03330°	0.04	5.21	0	1.15	4.80	22.16
S 02.30480°	W 061.02628°	0.07	6.53	0	0.94	4.0	26.72
S 02.35905°	W 061.00290°	0.06	9.2	0	1.08	9.3	21.64

S 02.39415°	W 060.99394°	0.14	8.63	0	0.43	10.8	25.02
S 02.41246º	W 060.98243º	0.08	12.36	0	0.99	4.0	15.65
S 02.43084º	W 061.01527º	0.06	10.3	1	5.01	3.0	33.92
S02.465624°	W060.927204°	0.07	15.02	0	4.52	5.5	31.91
S 0247332º	W060.97627º	0.06	9.69	0	8.74	2.3	39.38
S.02.44953°	W 060.94923º	0.03	13.53	1	2.54	2.9	42.84
S 02.49454º	W 060.93719º	0.04	13.05	0	6.11	3.0	30.35
S 02.51718º	W 060.92078º	0.04	14.67	0	5.47	12.7	18.64
S02.518350°	W060.871161°	0.06	10.08	0	0.57	4.3	35.13
S 02.54468º	W 060.87599º	0.05	11.14	0	2.59	2.8	58.90
S 02.55824º	W 060.85156º	0.03	9.12	0	2.93	3.2	41.64
S 02.57631º	W 060.82553º	0.04	8.14	0	5.31	2.7	33.99
S 02.57341º	W 060.80679º	0.04	6.70	1	3.78	1.8	70.20
S 02.57450°	W 060.78967º	0.03	6.26	0	3.44	5.1	25.15
S 02.55331º	W 060.77921º	0.05	3.85	0	0.24	3.6	45.96
S 02.59493º	W 060.76028	0.03	8.64	1	2.41	3.9	17.39
S 02.61151º	W 060.77030°	0.06	9.92	0	4.36	7.8	34.83
S 02.61236º	W/ 060 752120						
	W 000.75215*	0.05	11.1	1	2.97	4.5	38.47
S 02.61238º	W 060.73213 ^o	0.05	11.1 11.85	1	2.97 1.64	4.5	38.47 32.62
S 02.61238º S 02.54789º	W 060.73413° W 060.80404°	0.05 0.04 0.05	11.1 11.85 4.21	1 1 1	2.97 1.64 0.96	4.5 4.1 2.9	38.47 32.62 29.61
S 02.61238° S 02.54789° S 02.56110°	W 060.73413° W 060.73413° W 060.80404° W 060.82261°	0.05 0.04 0.05 0.05	11.1 11.85 4.21 6.70	1 1 1 0	2.97 1.64 0.96 3.08	4.5 4.1 2.9 4.3	38.47 32.62 29.61 13.10
S 02.61238° S 02.54789° S 02.56110° S 02,64803°	W 060.73213 W 060.73413° W 060.80404° W 060.82261° W 060.71751°	0.05 0.04 0.05 0.05 0.04	11.1 11.85 4.21 6.70 14.89	1 1 1 0 1	2.97 1.64 0.96 3.08 3.87	4.5 4.1 2.9 4.3 4.8	38.47 32.62 29.61 13.10 31.49
S 02.61238° S 02.54789° S 02.56110° S 02,64803° S 02.67837°	W 060.73213° W 060.73413° W 060.80404° W 060.82261° W 060.71751° W 060.68189°	0.05 0.04 0.05 0.05 0.04 0.05	11.1 11.85 4.21 6.70 14.89 18.63	1 1 1 0 1 1 1	2.97 1.64 0.96 3.08 3.87 2.33	4.5 4.1 2.9 4.3 4.8 4.8	38.47 32.62 29.61 13.10 31.49 38.93
S 02.61238° S 02.54789° S 02.56110° S 02,64803° S 02.67837° S 02.71006°	W 060.73213 W 060.73413° W 060.80404° W 060.82261° W 060.71751° W 060.68189° W 060.65781°	0.05 0.04 0.05 0.05 0.04 0.05 0.03	11.1 11.85 4.21 6.70 14.89 18.63 15.28	1 1 1 0 1 1 1 1 1	2.97 1.64 0.96 3.08 3.87 2.33 6.29	4.5 4.1 2.9 4.3 4.8 4.8 4.8 4.3	38.47 32.62 29.61 13.10 31.49 38.93 25.86
S 02.61238° S 02.54789° S 02.56110° S 02,64803° S 02.67837° S 02.71006° S 02.59359°	W 060.73213 W 060.73413° W 060.80404° W 060.82261° W 060.71751° W 060.68189° W 060.65781° W 060.81361°	0.05 0.04 0.05 0.05 0.04 0.05 0.03 0.18	11.1 11.85 4.21 6.70 14.89 18.63 15.28 9.64	1 1 1 0 1 1 1 1 0 0	2.97 1.64 0.96 3.08 3.87 2.33 6.29 7.18	4.5 4.1 2.9 4.3 4.8 4.8 4.8 4.3 4.8	38.47 32.62 29.61 13.10 31.49 38.93 25.86 25.71

Appendix S6. Species organized by their primary diet, locomotion, number of independent records and number of camera traps where the species were registered.

Primary diet	Order	Species (Common name)	Locomotion	Number of records	Number of cameratraps
	Rodentia	Cuniculus paca (Spotted paca)	Terrestrial	5	3
	Rodentia	Hydrochoerushydrochoerus(Capybara)	Terrestrial	3	2
Herbivorous	Artiodactyla	Mazamaamericana(Red brocket deer)	Terrestrial	1	1
	Artiodactyla	Pecari tajacu(Collaredpeccary)	Terrestrial	1	1
	Rodentia	Proechimyssp. (Spinyrat)	Terrestrial	12	8
	Didelphimorphia	Didelphismarsupialis(Common opossum)	Scansorial	83	19
Omnivorous	Carnivora	Nasuanasua(South American coati)	Terrestrial	2	1
	Didelphimorphia	Philander opossum (Gray four-eyed opossum)	Scansorial	4	2
Carnivorous	Carnivora	Leoparduspardalis(Ocelot)	Terrestrial	1	1
Garmyorous	Carnivora	Pantheraonca(Jaguar)	Terrestrial	3	2
Insectivorous	Pilosa	Tamanduatetradactyla(Lesseranteater)	Scansorial	11	6

x	Ŷ	C. paca	D. marsupialis	H. hydrochoerus	M. americana	N. nasua	P. onca	P. tajacu	P. opossum	Proechimys sp.	L. pardalis	T. tetradactyla	N⁰ records	N⁰ records/ sampling effort
S 01.36634°	W 061.79113°	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	2	0.028
S 01.245660°	W061.404618°	0	0	0	1	2	0	0	0	0	1	0	4	0.056
S.01.43701°	W061.59555°	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
S 01.41285	W 061.64458°	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	2	0.028
S01.45911°	W061.56334°	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
S 01.49382 °	W 061.54341°	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	2	0.028
S 01.51433°	W 061.53587°	0	0	0	0	0	2	0	0	0	0	0	2	0.028
S 01.57869°	W061.49066°	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
S 01.56088°	W 061.51875°	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
S 01.58602°	W 061.51136°	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
S.01.62100°	W 061.46025°	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
S 01.67150°	W 061.43144°	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
S 01.74363°	W 061.43983°	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
S 01.78268°	W 061.43177°	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
S 01.92844°	W 061.28011°	0	6	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	7	0.099
S 01.946 75°	W 061.25460°	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
S 01.99961°	W 061.22744°	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
S.01.43832°	W 061.57518°	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	2	0.028
S 01.56173°	W 061.49700°	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
S 02.21201°	W 061.04876°	0	8	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	3	12	0.170
S 02.28439°	W 061.03330°	0	9	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	2	11	0.155
S 02.30480°	W 061.02628°	0	0	3	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	3	0.042
S 02.35905°	W 061.00290°	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	3	0	0	3	0.042
S 02.39415°	W 060.99394°	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0

Appendix S7. Table showing individual mammal abundance per sampling point and number of records per sampling effort.

S 02.41246°	W 060.98243°	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0.014
S 02.43084°	W 061.01527°	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0.014
S 02.465624°	W 060.927204°	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	2	0.028
S 0247332°	W060.97627°	0	4	0	0	0	0	0	0	2	0	0	6	0.085
S.02.44953°	W 060.94923°	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	1	0.014
S 02.49454°	W 060.93719°	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
S 02.51718°	W 060.92078°	0	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	2	0.028
S02.518350°	W 060.871161°	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
S 02.54468°	W 060.87599°	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	2	0,028
S 02.55824°	W 060.85156°	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
S 02.57631°	W 060.82553°	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
S 02.57341°	W 060.80679°	0	3	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	3	0.042
S 02.57450°	W 060.78967°	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
S 02.55331°	W 060.77921°	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
S 02.59493°	W 060.76028°	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	2	0	0	3	0.042
S 02.61151°	W 060.77030°	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
S 02.61236°	W 060.75213°	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	2	0	1	3	0.042
S 02.61238°	W 060.73413°	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0.014
S 02.54789°	W 060.80404°	0	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	2	0.028
S 02.56110°	W 060.82261°	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
S 02,64803°	W 060.71751°	0	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	2	0.028
S 02.67837°	W 060.68189°	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0.014
S 02.71006°	W 060.65781°	1	22	0	0	0	0	0	3	0	0	0	26	0.368
S 02.59359°	W 060.81361°	1	16	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	3	20	0.283
S 02.54438°	W 060.82154°	3	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	3	0.042

Appendix S8. Five best models selected by the model selection (Akaike Criteria) for total mammalian abundance and proportion of omnivorous species.

Total Mammalian abundance		
Model structure	ΔΑΙC	wAIC
Null model	0.00	0.43
Model structure: SB + FC + MA + BA	2.53	0.12
Model structure: SB + FC + MA + LO	2.68	0.11
Model structure: SB + BA + LO	2.70	0.10
Model structure: SB + FC + MA	3.54	0.07
Environmental andanthropicfactors	Sum ofAkaikeweights	
Soilfertility	0.4	
Distance from the sampling point to the nearest mainland	0.3	
Forest cover	0.3	
Basal área	0.2	
Logging	0.2	

Five best models selected by the model selection (Akaike Criteria) with delta < 10 as a function for total abundance of mammals. SB: Sum of bases; Distance from the sampling point to the nearest mainland- MA; FC: Forest cover; BA: Tree Basal area; LO: Logging Δ AIC = difference between the best model (with zero value) and the others where lower numbers indicate the best model, wAIC = strength of evidence in favor of each of the models where higher numbers indicate the best model.

Proportion of Didelphismarsupialis		
Modelstructure	ΔΑΙC	wAIC
Nullmodel	0.00	0.73
Model structure: SB + MA + FC	4.93	0.06
Model structure: SB + FC + CD	5.02	0.06
Model structure: SB + BA + LO	5.32	0.05
Model structure: SB + FC + MA + LO	6.13	0.03
Environmental andanthropicfactors	Sum of Akaikeweights	
Soilfertility	0.20	
Forest cover	0.15	
Distance from the sampling point to the nearest mailand	0.09	
Logging	0.08	
Distance from the sampling point to the nearest human community	0.06	
Basal area	0.05	

Appendix S9. Parcial graph and generic graph for each environmental and anthropogenic variable for total abundance and proportion of omnivorous.

DISTANCE FROM THE SAMPLING POINT TO THE NEAREST MAILAND



TREE BASAL AREA



DISTANCE FROM THE SAMPLING POINT TO THE NEAREST HUMAN COMMUNITY



LOGGING



SOIL FERTILITY



Soil fertility (cmolc kg-1)

FOREST COVER





Appendix S10. Observed variation in soil fertility within the fluvial islands



D)